STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

**RECEIVED**

AUG - 7 2014

**S.C. Supreme Court**

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from Horry County  
Honorable Edward B. Cottingham, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2014-001545

---

THE STATE,

Petitioner,

vs.

ALEX LORENZO ROBINSON,

Respondent.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON CERTIORARI

### I.

Did the Court of Appeals err in finding the search warrant to be invalid based on its determination the search warrant affidavit contained no information as to the confidential informant's reliability where the trial judge correctly concluded the search warrant affidavit established a reliable probable cause basis to believe narcotics would be discovered at Robinson's residence in light of the information included in the search warrant affidavit in regard to the confidential informant's purchases of narcotics from the residence on multiple occasions while working with law enforcement officers and the law enforcement officers' corroboration of the information provided by the informant by working with her and field-testing the narcotics she purchased from the residence?

### II.

Even assuming the search warrant affidavit was insufficient to establish a probable cause basis for the search of Robinson's home, did the Court of Appeals err in finding the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule was not applicable in Robinson's case when the law enforcement officer relied on the judicially-issued search warrant in good faith and in an objectively-reasonable manner and when the search warrant affidavit was not so lacking in indicia of probable cause that belief in and reliance on its validity was objectively unreasonable?

### III.

Although the Court of Appeals correctly determined the law enforcement officer's alleged inclusion of false information in the search warrant affidavit did not warrant suppression in Robinson's case, did the Court of Appeals err in finding the law enforcement officer included false information in the warrant affidavit by omitting information that would have had no bearing on whether there was a probable cause basis justifying the issuance of the search warrant?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Procedural History

In September of 2008, Respondent Alex Lorenzo Robinson was arrested after attempting to flee from law enforcement officers conducting a narcotics investigation. In August of 2009, the Horry County Grand Jury indicted Robinson for one count of trafficking in cocaine in an amount between 100 and 200 grams and one count of failure to stop for a blue light. On November 9, 2011, a jury trial was commenced in the Horry County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable Edward B. Cottingham, circuit court judge, presiding, and the trial proceeded forward only on the trafficking in cocaine charge following a pre-trial ruling. At the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Robinson of trafficking in cocaine in an amount between 100 and 200 grams. Following the verdict, the trial judge sentenced Robinson to a twenty-five year term of imprisonment and a \$50,000 fine. Robinson then timely filed and perfected an appeal.

Subsequently, following oral argument, the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion reversing Robinson's conviction. State v. Robinson, 408 S.C. 268, 758 S.E.2d 725 (Ct. App. 2014). Both Robinson and the State petitioned the Court of Appeals for rehearing, and the petitions were denied. The State then filed a petition for a writ of certiorari in the Supreme Court.

### Factual History

In August of 2008, officers with the Horry County Police Department began a narcotics investigation targeting a residence in Conway, South Carolina, after a confidential informant indicated she knew someone who could arrange narcotics purchases from that residence. (App'x pp. 27-28). As part of the investigation, Sergeant Kent Donald met with the confidential informant prior to the arranged drug transactions,

searched her, attached a recording device, and provided her with police funds, and the confidential informant then bought cocaine from the targeted residence on three separate occasions. (App'x pp. 28-31). During the transactions, the confidential informant met with an individual named Christopher Oliver, the informant drove Oliver to the targeted residence and parked nearby, Oliver went into the residence while the informant watched Oliver go inside from the car, and Oliver returned from the residence shortly thereafter with cocaine. (App'x pp. 29-30). As the investigation into the residence continued, Sergeant Donald began to suspect Respondent Alex Lorenzo Robinson was connected to the narcotics activity after discovering Robinson paid the electricity bills for the targeted residence. (App'x p. 131; p. 333; p. 337).

Based on the confidential informant's successful narcotics purchases, Sergeant Donald sought a search warrant for the targeted residence and prepared an accompanying sworn affidavit. (App'x pp. 31-32; pp. 547-551). In the search warrant affidavit, Sergeant Donald stated:

I am a police officer, certified in South Carolina. I have been employed by the Horry County Police Department for 10 years with 7 years as a Detective. I have received training in the following: Drug Investigator Level I and Level II 80 hours, and Narcotics Commanders Course 40 hours. I have been involved in other search warrants relating to the seizure of illegal narcotics. I am authorized to make searches and seizures. A confidential and reliable informant working for the Horry County Police Department purchased a quantity of off white powder substance represented as being cocaine and field-testing positive for cocaine attributes from the occupants of the house identified as [the address of the targeted residence] in Conway, SC. That the informant has been able to make recent continuous purchases of illegal drugs from this residence leads to the affiant's belief that there is the possibility there may be more illegal drugs located at this residence.

(App'x pp. 32-33; pp. 547-551). The search warrant was issued by the Honorable Edward B. Cottingham, circuit court judge, on September 17, 2008. (App'x pp. 547-551).

Thereafter, on the morning of September 25, 2008, law enforcement officers went to the targeted residence to execute the search warrant. (App'x pp. 130-132). The officers knocked on the door, announced their presence, and then forced entry after receiving no response from inside. (App'x pp. 133-134). After the officers entered the residence, Sergeant Donald headed to the bedroom on the left side of the home. (App'x pp. 134-135). Inside, he located Kenneth Durant, Robinson's half-brother, and Tiffany Smith, Durant's girlfriend. (App'x p. 137; p. 368; p. 377). The officer then secured the room, conducted a search, and discovered a book bag containing seven small bags of cocaine, a loaded nine-millimeter handgun, and a scale. (App'x pp. 137-138).

Meanwhile, Detective Ashley Hardee entered the bedroom on the right side of the house. (App'x p. 307). Inside, he encountered Gil Yakoel, Robinson's pregnant girlfriend. (App'x p. 130; pp. 237-238; pp. 308-309). After securing the room, Detective Ashley conducted a search and located men's clothing in the bedroom closet. (App'x p. 310). Upon removing some of the clothing, a bag containing 109.35 grams of cocaine fell out of a pair of men's jeans. (App'x p. 153; pp. 310-312; p. 354). Additionally, three Ecstasy pills, several bags of green plant material, a photograph of Robinson, and paperwork addressed to Robinson were discovered in the bedroom. (App'x p. 151; p. 156; p. 355). As officers continued searching the residence, they additionally discovered a surveillance system with a monitor providing a view of the street outside, numerous letters addressed to Robinson, shotgun shells, a digital scale, baking soda, and plastic

bags. (App'x pp. 141-142; pp. 145-146). A vehicle registered to Robinson was also discovered parked outside of the residence. (App'x p. 156).

Following the discovery of the narcotics in the targeted residence, Sergeant Donald sought and obtained a warrant for Robinson's arrest based on the evidence connecting him to the home. (App'x p. 166). Thereafter, Sergeant Donald learned Robinson was at a detention center on September 30, 2008, attempting to obtain the release of Yakoel, who had been arrested along with Durant and Smith after the search resulted in the discovery of the drugs. (App'x p. 165; p. 167). In response, Sergeant Donald travelled to the detention center to arrest Robinson. (App'x p. 167). When he arrived, he saw Robinson sitting in the detention center parking lot inside of the vehicle the officer had earlier seen parked outside of the targeted residence when he executed the search warrant. (App'x pp. 169-171). Robinson looked in Sergeant Donald's direction and then immediately began driving away. (App'x pp. 169-170). Sergeant Donald followed Robinson and activated his blue lights to initiate a traffic stop. (App'x p. 173). However, Robinson did not stop and, instead, quickly accelerated and began fleeing from the officer. (App'x p. 173). Robinson continued to flee at a high rate of speed until he hit a law enforcement device that punctured his tires. (App'x pp. 174-175). Robinson then crashed his vehicle, and Robinson and a passenger in his vehicle immediately fled into a nearby soybean field on foot. (App'x pp. 123-124; p. 175). In response, Corporal Scott Calderwood chased them into the field and quickly caught and arrested them. (App'x p. 124; p. 175). After Robinson was arrested, Sergeant Donald searched Robinson and discovered a bank deposit slip with Robinson's name and the address of the targeted residence on it inside of Robinson's wallet. (App'x p. 175; pp. 177-179).

Subsequently, Robinson was indicted for trafficking in cocaine in an amount between 100 and 200 grams and failure to stop for a blue light, and he proceeded to trial before Judge Cottingham. (App'x p. 6; pp. 540-543). At the outset of trial, defense counsel moved for the solicitor to be required to select which of the indicted offenses to proceed forward on, and the trial judge granted that request. (App'x pp. 7-8; p. 13). Defense counsel then asserted the search warrant was defective because the information contained in the search warrant affidavit was allegedly false. (App'x pp. 14-17). In response, the solicitor noted the affidavit was truthful because the confidential informant went to the targeted residence and had the cocaine brought to the car from the residence. (App'x pp. 16-17). Following the exchange, the trial judge initially ruled the search warrant and affidavit were proper. (App'x p. 17). Defense counsel then sought the trial judge's recusal on the basis it was allegedly improper for the trial judge to rule on the propriety of a search warrant he personally issued it, and the trial judge declined to recuse himself after considering the issue. (App'x p. 17; p. 21). However, the trial judge agreed to conduct a pre-trial hearing on the warrant issue. (App'x p. 22).

During the ensuing hearing on the search warrant issue, Sergeant Donald testified about his investigation and the preparation of the search warrant affidavit.<sup>1</sup> (App'x p. 28; p. 32). Specifically, the officer stated the confidential informant informed him she purchased drugs from the targeted residence on three occasions, watched Oliver enter the residence on each occasion, and was in the vehicle when Oliver returned from the

---

<sup>1</sup> Prior to the hearing, defense counsel reasserted his claim the information contained in the search warrant affidavit was false while acknowledging the alleged falsity was dependent on the context in which the statements were viewed. (App'x p. 23). Defense counsel further contended he needed the confidential informant present to testify in regard to the validity of the search warrant without identifying a specific reason as to why the informant's presence was necessary. (App'x p. 23). In response, the trial judge declined defense counsel's request regarding the informant, affirmatively indicated he could be fair and impartial in regard to the search warrant despite the fact he was the issuing judge, and reaffirmed his decision not to recuse himself. (App'x pp. 23-25).

residence with the cocaine. (App'x pp. 28-30). He further indicated he did not believe he left anything out of the search warrant affidavit and did not attempt to mislead the trial judge through the information included in the affidavit. (App'x p. 36). On cross-examination, Sergeant Donald acknowledged the confidential informant never went to the door of the targeted residence, never entered the residence, and never met with Robinson. (App'x p. 39; pp. 41-43). However, those allegations were not contained in the search warrant affidavit. (App'x pp. 32-33; pp. 547-551).

Following Sergeant Donald's testimony, the trial judge asked defense counsel to specifically identify which allegations contained in the affidavit were false. (App'x p. 50). In response, defense counsel first moved for the warrant to be suppressed based on an alleged lack of information regarding the informant's reliability. (App'x p. 51). Defense counsel then asserted the affidavit was false because it stated the confidential informant purchased the cocaine. (App'x pp. 54-55). In reply, the solicitor asserted the reliability of the confidential informant was established by the successful narcotics purchases and the confidential informant's statements about purchasing the cocaine were accurate and truthful. (App'x pp. 55-56). After considering the arguments of counsel, the trial judge ruled the search warrant affidavit was valid and truthful when considered in the proper context. (App'x p. 56). Following the ruling, defense counsel moved for the search warrant to be quashed as stale, and the trial judge denied the motion. (App'x p. 57). Thereafter, the trial judge reaffirmed his ruling that the search warrant affidavit was free of false statements and contained sufficient information to justify the issuance of the warrant.<sup>2</sup> (App'x p. 59).

---

<sup>2</sup> Defense counsel also renewed the request for the confidential informant to be produced to testify on the search warrant issue, and the trial judge again denied the request, noting the confidential informant was not a participant in regard to the narcotics for which Robinson was on trial. (App'x p. 58).

Subsequently, during trial, Sergeant Donald and Detective Hardee testified about the search of the targeted residence and their discovery of the narcotics inside, and the cocaine and other drugs located in the search were admitted into evidence without objection.<sup>3</sup> (App'x pp. 131-132; pp. 137-138; p. 151; p. 153; pp. 302-303; pp. 310-313; pp. 350-351; pp. 354-355). Thereafter, at the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Robinson of trafficking in cocaine in an amount between 100 and 200 grams. (App'x p. 532). Following the verdict, defense counsel renewed several of the motions raised prior to and during trial, including the motion to quash the search warrant, and the trial judge denied the motions. (App'x pp. 539-540). The trial judge then sentenced Robinson to a twenty-five year term of imprisonment and a \$50,000 fine. (App'x p. 543).

Subsequently, Robinson appealed his conviction and sentence on several grounds, including on the ground the evidence found in the search of his residence should have been suppressed because the search warrant affidavit allegedly contained false and unreliable information and was not sufficient to support a finding of probable cause. (App'x pp. 599-610). On appeal, the Court of Appeals reversed. (App'x p. 679). In arriving at its decision to reverse, the Court of Appeals first considered whether the affidavit was knowingly misleading to the issuing judge and determined the trial judge clearly erred in concluding the search warrant affidavit contained no false information based on its determination "Sergeant Donald's affidavit implie[d], if not expressly state[d], the informant personally entered the house and purchased cocaine." (App'x pp. 681-683). However, the Court of Appeals determined the alleged inclusion of the false information in the warrant affidavit did not require suppression because "including in the

---

<sup>3</sup> Although defense counsel did not object to the admission of the drugs, the trial judge subsequently indicated he understood the lack of an objection only related to the chain of custody for the evidence and was not a waiver of the search warrant issue that had previously been raised. (App'x p. 363).

affidavit the correct information about Oliver's involvement would not have changed the fact that probable cause existed, *if the informant was telling the truth.*" (App'x p. 683) (italics in original). The Court of Appeals then considered whether the search warrant affidavit established a probable cause basis for the search and concluded it did not due to Sergeant Donald's alleged failure to include "any evidence of the informant's reliability." (App'x p. 683). Finally, the Court of Appeals determined the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule was not applicable to Robinson's case after finding the search warrant affidavit did not provide the issuing judge with a substantial basis for determining the existence of probable cause and was so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable. (App'x pp. 684-686). In conclusion, the Court of Appeals instructed:

We find the search warrant was invalid because Sergeant Donald gave the issuing judge no information regarding the informant's reliability. Without such information, the affidavit did not provide the issuing judge a substantial basis for a finding of probable cause, the good faith exception does not apply, and the evidence must be suppressed.

(App'x p. 687).

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**Did the Court of Appeals err in finding the search warrant to be invalid based on its determination the search warrant affidavit contained no information as to the confidential informant's reliability where the trial judge correctly concluded the search warrant affidavit established a reliable probable cause basis to believe narcotics would be discovered at Robinson's residence in light of the information included in the search warrant affidavit in regard to the confidential informant's purchases of narcotics from the residence on multiple occasions while working with law enforcement officers and the law enforcement officers' corroboration of the information provided by the informant by working with her and field-testing the narcotics she purchased from the residence?**

The Court of Appeals reversed Robinson's conviction after concluding the search warrant issued in his case was invalid. In support of that conclusion, the Court of Appeals determined the search warrant affidavit allegedly contained no information as to the confidential informant's reliability. Contrary to the Court of Appeals' conclusion, the search warrant affidavit contained sufficient reliable information to establish a probable cause basis to believe narcotics would be found at Robinson's residence at the time of the search based on the information regarding the confidential informant's work with the Horry County Police Department, the confidential informant's successful purchases of narcotics from the residence while working with the law enforcement officers, and the officers' corroboration of the informant's reliability by working with her and field-testing the narcotics she purchased from the residence. Accordingly, the trial judge correctly denied Robinson's motion to suppress the evidence discovered during the search of his residence, and the Court of Appeals erred in reaching a contrary conclusion. The State's petition for a writ of certiorari should be granted.

The Fourth Amendment protects "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S.

Const. amend. IV. “The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.” Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991). As a result, **only** unreasonable searches and seizures are constitutionally prohibited. State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977); see Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) (“It goes without saying that the Fourth Amendment bars only unreasonable searches and seizures[.]”).

In South Carolina, an affiant seeking to obtain a search warrant must present a sworn affidavit to a judge presenting grounds sufficient to establish probable cause in order to justify the issuance of the warrant. State v. Bellamy, 336 S.C. 140, 143, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348-349 (1999); see S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (“A warrant issued hereunder shall be issued only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record establishing the grounds for the warrant.”); see also Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983) (identifying probable cause as “a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found”). In State v. Williams, 262 S.C. 186, 189, 203 S.E.2d 436, 437-438 (1974), this Court explained probable cause as it relates to the issuance of a search warrant:

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