ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Horry County
The Edward B. Cottingham, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

SEP 29 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

Opinion No. 5224 (S.C. Ct. App. April 23, 2014)

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

ALEX ROBINSON,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001545

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly held that (1) the Trial Court erred in ruling that there were no false statements in the affidavit supporting the search warrant; (2) the affidavit supporting the search warrant failed to include any evidence of the confidential informant's reliability, thus rendering the warrant invalid such that the evidence seized pursuant to the warrant had to be suppressed; and (3) the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule did not apply to render the evidence admissible despite the invalidity of the search warrant as the State contends.

Relevant Facts of Suppression Hearing

Pre-trial, defense counsel challenged the sufficiency of the search warrant that was previously issued by the Trial Court and moved to suppress the evidence found during the execution of the search warrant on September 25, 2008. R. 11, ll. 4-11; R. 30, ll. 6-10. The probable cause section of the search warrant affidavit provided:

A confidential and reliable informant working for the Horry County Police Department *purchased* a quantity of off white powder substance represented as being cocaine and field-testing positive for cocaine attributes *from the occupants of the house identified as [redacted] Stonybrook Dr* in Conway, SC. That the informant has been able to make *recent continuous purchases of illegal drugs from this residence* leads to the affiant's belief that there is the possibility there may be more illegal drugs located at this residence.

R. 27, ll. 19-25; 545 [State's Exhibit # 1 (Search Warrant) (emphasis added)]. Defense counsel argued that, under the totality of the circumstances, the search warrant affidavit and the supplemental oral testimony failed to establish sufficient information to support the Trial Court's finding of probable cause where: (1) the affiant knew information in the affidavit was false (e.g., the confidential informant did not actually observe the alleged drug transaction); and (2) there was no evidence presented to the Trial Court to verify the reliability of the confidential informant (CI). R. 11, l. 24 – 30, l. 13; R. 47, l. 2 – 57, l. 19.

Contrary to the information contained in the search warrant affidavit, Sergeant Kent Donald of the Horry County Police Department admitted that the CI *never* purchased cocaine from the occupants of the residence at Stoneybrook Drive. R. 23, l. 22 – 39, l. 2. On August 15, 2008, Sergeant Donald and another agent met up with the CI. The CI stated that she would go meet up with the other person that was going to supply them with the cocaine and that she drove them over to the residence. The other person the CI picked up was Christopher Oliver. Oliver told the CI to drop him off away from the residence because the occupants of the house did not want any undue suspicion on their house. Oliver therefore told her to park down the road and Oliver would walk to the residence to purchase the cocaine. This first purchase occurred on August 15, 2008. R. 25, ll. 3-17.

A second purchase occurred on August 22, 2008. Sergeant Donald again met up with the CI and wired her and gave her \$600 of police buy money. She went and picked up Oliver again so he could purchase the drugs. A third purchase made in the same manner occurred on September 12, 2008. R. 25, l. 18 – 26, l. 1.

The CI told Sergeant Donald that she observed Oliver enter the residence and that when he left her car, he had the marked police money that she gave him. She claimed when Oliver left the residence, he returned with cocaine. Sergeant Donald admitted that Oliver was not the CI used by him. R.26, l. 2 – 27, l. 7. Based on this information, Sergeant Donald sought a search warrant for the residence that the drugs were allegedly purchased from. R. 27, l. 8 – 29, l. 14.

On cross-examination, Sergeant Donald admitted that his CI never once walked up to the door and knocked on the door of the residence in question. The only person he had wired was the CI, not the actual person who went to the residence to allegedly purchase the

drugs. The only person who was wired during the alleged drug transactions was the CI who merely sat in her car and played music, sang, and used profanities on the audio from the wire. Therefore, the wire did not capture any information relating to the alleged drug transactions. R. 35, l. 15 – 36, l. 19.

Sergeant Donald again admitted that the wired CI just sat in the car the whole time and never once got up and went to the door of the targeted residence. Nevertheless, Sergeant Donald told Judge Cottingham, the issuing judge of the search warrant, that the CI had made continuous drug buys herself. He never once told Judge Cottingham that the CI never walked to the door of the targeted residence and did not see anything because she was just sitting in the car listening to music down the street. R. 36, l. 20 – 37, l. 22.

Sergeant Donald also conceded that, although he prepared and signed the sworn search warrant affidavit, he did *not* inform Judge Cottingham that the CI *never* entered the Stoneybrook residence, or that the CI was *not* the person who allegedly purchased the cocaine from the Stoneybrook residence. Sergeant Donald did not inform Judge Cottingham that it was actually Oliver who allegedly purchased the drugs from the targeted residence. R. 37, l. 11 – 40, l. 10.

Sergeant Donald further admitted that he failed to provide Judge Cottingham with any information establishing the reliability of CI as well as the dates for when the alleged drug transactions occurred. R. 40, ll. 11-22; R. 44, l. 24 – 45, l. 2. Sergeant Donald further noted that he *never* “patted down” Oliver—as required—for drugs prior to the alleged drug transactions. R. 45, l. 3 – 46, l. 8. Sergeant Donald only patted down the CI who was not the one who entered the targeted residence and made the alleged drug purchases. Tr. 46, ll. 1-8.

After defense counsel listed numerous cases in support of the motion to quash the search warrant and suppression of the evidence,¹ the Trial Court rejected defense counsel's argument that the State failed to prove the reliability of the CI and stated: "I'll be glad for you [defense counsel] to put your cases on the record but I'm not gonna [sic] sit here and have a review of all the cases that I've read for the last twenty-seven years." R. 47, l. 2 – 50, l. 22. The Trial Court also gave a further explanation of his ruling:

I'm familiar generally with the cases that you [defense counsel] cited but I respectfully disagree with your position. This affidavit in my opinion then and now is complete and in accordance with the law regarding search warrants. This affiant to the best of his knowledge told the truth. Now, he [Sergeant Donald] may have told it not exactly as you would have it but he said I'm basing it on reliable information that I received that drugs have been sold from this place on several occasions.

R. 52, ll. 5-12. In response, defense counsel argued, "Your Honor, we would move on three grounds, number one, that there [was] patently on the face of this search warrant incorrect information provided to Your Honor." R. 52, ll. 21-23.

The Trial Court ruled, "Respectfully rejected. It's not patently information wrong [sic]. *I dealt with that twice now and I'm not gonna [sic] go there again.*" R. 52, l. 24 – 53, l. 1 (emphasis added). The Trial Court noted, "My concern, [defense counsel], is whether or not this affiant to the best of his knowledge was telling me the truth on that day. He says he got this from a reliable and confidential informant." R. 55, ll. 10-13.

The Trial Court ruled, "I conclude that [the search warrant affidavit] contains sufficient information for me to issue a bench warrant, I mean, a search warrant, which I did. And I respectfully deny your motion to quash the indictment [search warrant]." R. 55, ll.

¹ R. 548-583 [Court's Exhibit #1 (Case law submitted by Robinson)].

16-19. To further support his ruling, the Trial Court stated, "I think it's sufficient for me to conclude that the affidavit of this affiant was sufficient and the totality of the information provided is sufficient for the search warrant. *Now, I don't need any more on this question.*" R. 57, ll. 2-6 (emphasis added).

The cases cited in support of defense counsel's motion to suppress were later entered into evidence as Court's Exhibit #1. R. 83, l. 1 – 84, l. 17. After the close of the State's case, defense counsel noted, "I did not object to the introduction of the powder cocaine into evidence, what I intended and what I meant by that was I did not object to the chain of custody aspect of it. I preserve and reserve my previous objections." R. 359, ll. 8-12. In response, the Trial Court stated, "*No, you are protected on the record as to that issue clearly and I understood that it was subject to that objection in fairness to you.*" R. 359, ll. 20-22 (emphasis added). After the jury found Robinson guilty of trafficking cocaine, defense counsel renewed the motion to quash the search warrant and suppression of the evidence found during the execution of that search warrant. R. 531, ll. 2-8. The Trial Court denied the motion. R. 531, ll. 9-23.

Discussion

A. The affiant knew the information in the search warrant affidavit was false.

In its Petition for Writ of Certiorari, the State challenges the Court of Appeals' holding that the Trial Court clearly erred in ruling that no false statements were made by Sergeant Donald in the affidavit supporting the search warrant even though the Court of Appeals ultimately did not reverse Robinson's conviction on this basis.

In this case, it cannot be denied that Sergeant Donald included false statements in the affidavit supporting the search warrant where he avers in the affidavit that his CI made the alleged drug purchases from the targeted residence yet admitted during the suppression hearing that his CI never went to the door of the targeted residence and sat in her car and listened to music while another person, Oliver, allegedly purchased the drugs. Sergeant Donald admitted on cross-examination that, although he prepared and signed the sworn search warrant affidavit, he *never* told Judge Cottingham, the issuing judge, that the CI did *not* enter the Stoneybrook residence, or that the CI was *not* the person who allegedly purchased the cocaine from the Stoneybrook residence and that it was rather Oliver who allegedly purchased the drugs. R. 37, l. 11 – 40, l. 10. Because the affidavit represented that the CI was the actual purchaser of the drugs but did not disclose that Oliver purchased the drugs, the affidavit is false even if the State contends that Oliver was the CI's agent.

The State attempts to argue in its Petition that the affidavit “only indicated the [CI] purchased and obtained drugs from the targeted residence, which is exactly what actually occurred.” Petition, pp. 25-26 (emphasis in original). Sergeant Donald's testimony at the suppression hearing indicated that what actually happened was a far cry from what he averred in his affidavit. The Court of Appeals correctly held that Sergeant Donald's testimony at the suppression hearing conclusively demonstrated that his statements in the affidavit were false. App. 681-682.

The Court of Appeals did not reverse Robinson's conviction on this basis, however, finding that the false statements in themselves did not require suppression of the evidence. The Court of Appeals concluded that the affidavit might have still provided probable cause for the issuance of a search warrant *if* the CI was telling the truth. The Court of Appeals

then addressed whether the affidavit contained any information about the reliability of the CI. App. 682-683.

B. The State failed to establish the reliability of the confidential informant.

The Court of Appeals did find that Sergeant Donald's failure to include in his affidavit any evidence of the CI's reliability rendered the search warrant invalid. This State's law has long been well-settled that an affidavit supporting a search warrant must contain information supporting the credibility of the CI and the basis of her knowledge.

In a case with comparable facts, State v. Philpot, 317 S.C. 458, 454 S.E.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1995) the Court of Appeals held that a search warrant affidavit was insufficient to establish probable cause for a search of the defendant's residence. In Philpot, an officer of the Pickens County Sheriff's Department signed an affidavit to obtain a search warrant for marijuana and marijuana paraphernalia at the residence of the defendant. The affidavit contained the following statement:

Within the past 72 hours, a confidential informant has seen a quantity of marijuana in the residence to be searched. Also in the past, agents with the Special Operations Div. of the Pickens County Sheriff's Office have received information the [sic] one of the persons who lives at the residence, Jim Philpot, is involved in illicit activity.

317 S.C. at 460, 454 S.E.2d at 906.

Based upon this affidavit, the magistrate issued the search warrant. Officers of the sheriff's department executed the search warrant and seized evidence of marijuana manufacturing and possession. Id.

The defendant moved to suppress the evidence seized during the search because the name of the confidential informant had not been disclosed and the affidavit for the search warrant was devoid of information as to the informant's reliability. The trial court denied

the motion. During cross-examination, the defense counsel asked the officer presenting the affidavit whether he told the magistrate why this informant was dependable and reliable. The officer replied that he had presented the magistrate with a statement from the informant. Defense counsel moved for a production of the statement, and the trial court reviewed the statement and ruled there was nothing in it which would assist the defense and denied the motion to produce. Id. at 460, 454 S.E.2d at 906-07.

On appeal, the defendant asserted that the evidence seized during the execution of the search warrant should have been suppressed because the warrant was not supported by probable cause. More specially, the defendant attacked the failure of the affidavit to address the veracity of the confidential informant. The Court of Appeals agreed with the defendant's position. Id. at 460, 454 S.E.2d at 907.

The Court of Appeals first set forth the law regarding the issuance of search warrants by magistrates. "The task of a magistrate when determining whether to issue a warrant is to make a practical, common sense decision as to whether, under the totality of the circumstances set forth in the affidavit, there is a fair probability that evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place. State v. Adolphe, 314 S.C. 89, 441 S.E.2d 832 (Ct. App. 1994). This decision includes consideration of the veracity of the person supplying the information and the basis of his or her knowledge. Id. The affidavit must contain sufficient underlying facts and information upon which the magistrate may make a determination of probable cause. Mere conclusory statements which give the magistrate no basis to make a judgment regarding probable cause are insufficient. State v. Smith, 301 S.C. 371, 392 S.E.2d 182 (1990). If the affidavit alone is insufficient to establish probable cause, it may be supplemented by sworn oral testimony before the magistrate. State v. Johnson, 302 S.C.

243, 395 S.E.2d 167 (1990). An appellate court reviewing the decision to issue the warrant should decide whether the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed. Adolphe, 314 S.C. 89, 441 S.E.2d 832.” Philpot, 317 S.C. at 461, 454 S.E.2d at 907.

In Philpot, the Court of Appeals then concluded that the search warrant should not have been issued. The record indicated that the magistrate only had the officer’s affidavit and the written statement of the confidential informant before him. This Court found that the affidavit and written statement contained absolutely no showing of the confidential informant’s reliability. Furthermore, the officer testified at the pre-trial suppression hearing that the magistrate had no information regarding the reliability of the informant making a remand unnecessary under State v. Johnson. This Court held there was no substantial basis for the magistrate to conclude that probable cause for the search existed. Therefore, the evidence obtained as a result of the search warrant was inadmissible. Philpot, 317 S.C at 461, 454 S.E.2d at 907.

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